| | | | | | BLERK, SUPERSME COURT |
|----|-----|---------|-------|----|-----------------------|
| IN | THE | SUPREME | COURT | OF | THE STATE OF FORIDA |

| NICHOLAS G. SCHOMMER and JAMES V. LOBOZZO, JR., |) | |
|---|---|--------------------------|
| |) | Case No. 68,335 |
| Petitioner/Appellants, | | |
| |) | Second District Court of |
| vs. | | Appeal No. 85-1289 |
| |) | |
| THE HONORABLE E. RANDOLPH | | Circuit Court |
| BENTLEY, CIRCUIT JUDGE, IN AND |) | Case No. CR-83-63 |
| FOR THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT | | |
| OF FLORIDA AND BOARD OF COUNTY |) | |
| COMMISSIONERS OF HIGHLANDS | | |
| COUNTY, FLORIDA, |) | |
| | 、 | |
| Respondent/Appellees |) | |

INTRODUCTION TO ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal, in this case, has certified four (4) questions to be of great public importance concerning §925.036 Florida Statutes, (1983), which governs compensation to private counsel for representation of indigent accused.

The issue which other courts have stated is "intertwined" with the issues presented in the four (4) certified questions is, of course, the indigent accused's right to effective assistance of counsel.

No court or attorney addressing this question has even inferred that there is no duty on the attorneys of Florida, as officers of the Court, to contribute their time, skills and expertise in their representation of indigent accused to the benefit of our judicial system.

The real question is, does \$925.036 Florida Statutes (1983), and the case law construing that section and its predessors, result in a deprivation of the indigent accused's right to effective assistance of counsel.

- 1 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal brings before this Court the issue of the constitutionality, or in the alternative, the construction of \$925.036 Florida Statutes (1983).

Petitioners argument is that:

1. The Section is unconstitutional on its face because it constitutes a legislative userpation of an exclusive judicial function. The courts of Florida have historically governed the activities and profession of attorneys through the integrated Florida Bar. Indeed, all members of the Bar are officers of the Court, and it is as a result of such status that attorneys have a duty and obligation to represent indigent accused. The indigent's right to counsel in criminal cases is a creature of the judiciary and not a result of legislative action.

2. The Section is unconstitutional as applied. The mandatory limitations set by the Section are impractical, unworkable, unfair to counsel and the indigent accused he represents, and do not take into consideration any exceptional cases. As applied, the Section results in appointed counsel representing indigent accused for much less than a nominal fee or less than no fee at all because his non-compensable out-of-pocket costs exceed whatever amounts counsel has been awarded as fees by the court. The Section is unconstitutional as applied because, as in this case, there may be multiple attorneys appointed in the exceptional case and each would be compelled to represent the indigent

- 2 -

accused for less than what has been recognized as a nominal fee. This has resulted in a limitation on the number of attorneys who are sufficiently qualified and experienced and most importantly willing to accept these types of cases.

3. The Court should declare \$925.036 Florida Statutes (1983) unconstitutional on its face and void.

In the alternative, the Court should declare said Section unconstitutional as applied and authorize the Court to award appointed counsel a reasonable fee, using as a guideline the hourly rates established in the applicable administrative orders issued by the administrative judges of the respective circuits.

4. The statute, read in conjunction with §925.035 Florida Statutes (1983), contemplates the appointment of multiple attorneys for each defendant, and §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983) should be construed to authorize payment of up to and including the fee limitations to each counsel.

If the Court determines that the statute is unconstitutional as applied and there should be an exceptional circumstance exception to the statute which would authorize the trial court to exceed the fee maximum set out in the Section, then the factual determination of whether or not those circumstances exist should be addressed by the trial court.

- 3 -

COURT ISSUES ONE ORDER UNDER I. WHERE Α **§925.036, FLORIDA STATUTES (1983)**, WHICH AUTHORIZES MULTIPLE ATTORNEYS TO REPRESENT ONE DEFENDANT ON A SINGLE CHARGE, MAY EACH ATTORNEY BE AWARDED THE MAXIMUM COMPENSATION UNDER \$925.036.

This question was addressed by the Second District Court of Appeal, State of Florida in the case of <u>Board of County</u> <u>Commissioners Collier County v. Hayes, et al.</u>, 460 So2d 1007 (Fla. 2nd DCA), the Court held that multiple attorneys appointed under §925.035 are entitled only to the maximum compensation provided in §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983). The Court determined the legislative intent to be that the maximum allowed in §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983) to be an absolute cap no matter how many attorneys represented the defendant.

With recognition toward the potential for §925.035 Florida Statutes (1983) to authorize the appointment of more than one attorney, the Court stated that that provision could be interpreted not to mean the appointment of multiple attorneys for one defendant, but the appointment of an attorney for each of multiple defendants, or one attorney per defendant.

The polestar in this entire matter is of course the indigent defendant's constitutional right to counsel as stated in <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed. 2d 799 (1963) and other cases decided thereunder. The right to assistance of counsel as directed in <u>Gideon</u> presupposes the right

- 4 -

to competent, effective assistance of counsel. As Chief Justice Sundberg stated in <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Bridges</u>, 402 So2d 411 (Fla. 1981) at 415 in his special concurrence:

"Ineffective counsel is no counsel at all and such representation of the poor would make the promise of the sixth amendment a hollow one indeed."

The unstated but obvious, purpose of providing competent, effective assistance of counsel to indigent accused is to insure that such indigent receive a fair trial. The purpose for the fair trial, again unstated because it is obvious, is that if said indigent accused is convicted he may forfeit his liberty or even his life.

The seriousness of this is recognized both by this Court in its rule providing for direct appeal of all death penalty cases, (Rule 9.030(a)(D)(A)(i) Fla. R. App. P.), and by the recognized grounds for reversal of convictions for ineffective assistance of counsel. (Rule 3.850 Fla. R. Crim. P. and Rule 3.987, Paragraph 14(i) Fla. R. Crim. P.)

Under the Second District Court of Appeal's construction of §925.035 Florida Statutes (1983), the scenario consists of the lone defense attorney, working with an extremely limited amount of resources, consisting of the hourly rate established by the administrative order in the applicable Circuit, and the fee cap set in §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983), aligned against the State Attorneys Office and staff of salaried attorneys and

- 5 -

investigators, along with the county sheriff's office at its disposal, potentially the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and municipal law enforcement agencies also at its disposal. To restrict the indigent accused to one attorney working for a nominal fee against such an array is patently unfair.

To acknowledge that there are those serious cases, which almost without exception would include capital and life felonies, which require the appointment of more than one counsel for the indigent, acknowledges that there should be an exceptional circumstance exception to \$925.036 Florida Statutes (1983), or construe the pertinent sections as a grant of authority to award up to the statutory maximum to each attorney. The complex case which would require multiple defense counsel would inherently also require more time and effort by them in preparation. The problems mentioned by the Second District in this case and by the Fourth District in Martin County v. Makemson, 464 So2d 1281 (Fla. App. 4th DCA 1985) and Okeechobee County v. Jennings, 473 So2d 1314 (Fla. App. 4th DCA 1985), would be compounded and The attorneys end up working for less than a nomiexacerbated. nal fee. It then becomes an issue of not how much time is given by the local criminal defense bar, but based on todays overhead to run a law office, how much out-of-pocket expense is incurred by the criminal defense bar in handling these cases. Judge Bentley, the Trial Court Judge herein stated that Highlands County was down to three (3) attorneys competent to handle these

- 6 -

cases in a county of forty (40) practicing attorneys. Relief was obtained by going out of the county to appoint newly licensed attorneys, even though yet the judge questioned the competency of appointing those attorneys to handle cases against those charged with serious offenses.

The <u>Collier County v. Hayes</u> case speaks of the appointment of any payment to multiple counsel as circumvention of the statute. As Judge Bentley mentioned at the hearing on the award of fees:

"Now, some games are being played by attorneys asking for the appointment of an investigator which is more and more coming to be seen as a tool necessary for effective representation on a capital case."

There is no limit on what an investigator might receive from the county coffers as a cost incurred by the indigent defendant. The purpose is obviously to reduce the amount of time and labor put into the case by the attorney and lay off much of the preparation of the case to an investigator. What result this might have on the effectiveness of the defendant's assistance of counsel is questionable. Yet defense counsel feels compelled to do something to match the armament lined up against him by the state.

Where the Court recognizes a clear need for the appointment of more than one (1) attorney to effectively represent an indigent accused, the Court inferentially acknowledges that exceptional circumstances exist. The Court should have the power

- 7 -

and authority to award reasonable compensation to each attorney, based upon the hourly rates established by the pertinent administrative order, or in the alternative award up to and including the maximum fee prescribed in §925.036 (1983) to each attorney. The result of the Court's lack of authority to do either of the above is the shrinkage of the pool of qualified, experienced willing attorneys from which to draw and appoint to these types of cases. In turn, the indigent defendant's right to counsel becomes, to paraphrase Chief Justice Sundberg in <u>Metropolitan</u> Dade, a hollow promise indeed.

II. WHETHER §925.036, FLORIDA STATUTES IS UNCONSTITU-TIONAL ON ITS FACE BECAUSE IT INTERFERES WITH THE INHERENT AUTHORITY OF THE COURT TO ENTER SUCH ORDERS WHICH ARE NECESSARY TO CARRY OUT ITS CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY?

As stated in the lower court opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal in the instant case, the Fourth District has addressed this issue in the <u>Makemson</u> opinion and in the special concurrence in Jennings authored by Chief Judge Anstead.

In <u>Makemson</u> the Court cited the New Hampshire case of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 118 N.H. 764, 394 A.2d 834 (1978) a New Hampshire Supreme Court Opinion striking down fee cap statutes as an unconstitutional intrusion into an exclusively judicial function. A copy of the <u>Makemson</u> case is attached hereto, in the appendix, said quote from the Smith v. State case being found on page 1284.

It is submitted that the regulation of attorneys from

their entrance to the bar to their discipline and rules of conduct are exclusively within the purview of the Supreme Court of the State of Florida, particularly since the Florida Bar is an integrated mandatory bar and not voluntary. Florida Bar members are officers of the Court, and it is precisely such status upon which their obligation to defend indigent accused by order of the Court rests. It is the Courts and not the legislature which should determine the compensation, if any, such attorneys should receive as a result of said representation.

The sixth amendment right to counsel was a creature of judicial construction of the United States Constitution in <u>Gideon</u>, and not a creation of the legislature. The power and authority to insure that such right to counsel attains the level of right to effective assistance of counsel is contained within the judiciary and not the legislature.

As Chief Justice Sundberg stated in <u>Metropolitan Dade</u> <u>County v. Bridges</u>, the duty imposed by <u>Gideon</u> was a duty imposed upon the State. Our State of Florida responded admirably by setting up one of the first public defender systems in the country. As stated in <u>Smith v. State</u>, the legal profession, being taxpayers of course, share in the burden of providing such representation through the tax supported Public Defenders Office.

Petitioners agree with the <u>Smith</u> decision that the Bar should continue to contribute something more than the general public, because of their status as officers of the Court. However, again, to quote the <u>Smith</u> decision:

- 9 -

"The obligations and responsibilities of the Bar are matters of judicial concern alone."

The amount of compensation awarded to appointed counsel to represent indigent defendants should be exclusively within the authority of the judiciary. It is submitted that the decision in <u>Smith v. State</u> is well reasoned and this Court is urged to follow its holding.

III. IF §925.036 IS CONSTITUTIONAL, MAY THE STATUTE BE HELD UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES: OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, DOES A TRIAL COURT HAVE THE INHERENT AUTHORITY TO AWARD A GREATER FEE FOR TRIAL AND APPEAL THAN THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM IN AN EXTRAORDINARY CASE?

the prior decisions The common thread among in Metropolitan Dade County v. Bridges, Marion County v. DeBoisblanc, 410 So2d 951 (Fla. 5th DCA, petition for review denied 419 So2d 1196 (Fla. 1982) and the other decisions rendered since the Metropolitan Dade County decision is that the answer to this question depends on a showing of impossibility of rendering effective assistance of counsel as a result of the fee caps contained in §925.036 Florida Statutes. It is inherently impossible for a Court to address that issue.

As Justice Sundberg stated in <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u> v. Bridges at page 415:

"Should it be demonstrated that the monitary limitation placed by the legislature on the compensation paid to court appointed attorneys representing indigent criminal defendants be so unreasonable as to make it impossible to secure effective counsel to those individuals, then there is no doubt in my mind that it would be the duty of the Courts to strike down such limitations in favor of reasonable compensation.

Judge Sharp, in her special concurrence in <u>Marion County</u> v. DeBoisblanc at page 953, recognized:

"The difficulties of making such a showing, but I conclude we should recognize it theoretical existence, and leave for another case the problems of its proof."

It is submitted that the issue of the problems of proof is now ripe for decision. Judge Anstead addressed this in his special concurrence in <u>Okeechobee v. Jennings</u> at page 1318:

"A laywers professional ethics and personal concern for justice may motivate him to devote whatever time and effort is necessary in the individual case. Indeed, that is what keeps the present system afloat."

There will never be a showing of impossibility because those members of the criminal defense bar who are qualified and sufficiently competent to represent indigent defendants in the complex capital and life felony cases will do whatever is required to insure their respective clients receive effective assistance of counsel, no matter how nominal the fee.

The circuit judges of this state also help keep the present system afloat by insuring that only those members of the criminal defense bar, sufficiently competent and qualified to represent indigent defendants in the serious, complex, capital or life felonies are appointed. However, as Judge Bentley has pointed out, the well ran dry in Highlands County, and counsel located in other counties were appointed. Under these circumstances fewer and fewer attorneys will be handling criminal defense cases at all. The burden of providing effective assistance of counsel to indigent defendants, which duty rests upon the State, with the aid and extra assistance of <u>all</u> the members of the Florida Bar has now fallen upon a very small and shrinking percentage of that organization.

There will be those cases where a trial judge will determine that the appointment of two or more attorneys to an indigent defendant is required to provide that defendant effective assistance of counsel. The current problems faced by trial courts, namely the limited number of attorneys willing and qualified to handle these cases will be severely compounded.

The Court must have an outlet to insure that the judicially mandated effective assistance of counsel is provided. There must be an exception to §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983) which authorizes the trial judge to exceed the maximums and award fees to multiple counsel in excess of the maximums.

The history of the proceedings in the case of <u>State v.</u> <u>Alexander</u> for which Petitioners herein were appointed, illustrates the unfairness and unconstitutional application of §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983). Defendant Alexander was charged with the crime of murder in the first degree and after a competency

- 12 -

hearing in which the testimony of experts in the field of psychiatry and psychology was taken, was determined by the Court to be incompetent to stand trial at that time. Defendant Alexander was then institutionalized for a period of time. The issue of competency to stand trial was again addressed, a hearing was held thereon with the testimony of the above referenced experts taken. At that time he was determined to be competent to stand trial. It was at that point that current counsel was appointed.

It is not very difficult to conceive that in a complex capital felony a similar situation could arise in which most or virtually all the funds available under §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983) have been used up, before trial by motions, hearings, discovery procedures, etc. and then an appointed attorney must conduct days of trial potentially involving both the guilt and death sentencing phase working for virtually no fee. The instant case was complex, taking five (5) full days to try, without a sentencing phase. The fee limitations contained in §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983) are impractical, unfair, work an intolerable hardship on indigent defendants and are unconstitutional as applied. IV. IF THE TRIAL COURT DOES HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO AWARD A GREATER FEE THAN THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM IN EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES, SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT HAVE AWARDED THE REQUESTED AMOUNT IN THIS CASE?

Basically, the question to be answered is, did exceptional circumstances exist in the case at bar.

The trial court, Judge Bentley presiding, in its order appointing special public defender dated September 7, 1984 in appointing Petitioner Schommer as Special Public Defender granted Mr. Schommer the authority to use other members of his firm as may be necessary in representing Mr. Alexander. The Court recognized the potential necessity of having more than one attorney represent the Defendant in this case. This is in no way to infer that the Court intended at that time to abrogate §925.036 Florida Statutes (1983) and award fees in excess of the cap stated therein.

The brief history of this case has been recited in the argument addressed to certified question III. It was a case that had been in the Court system for years, received daily publicity prior to and during trial. The trial of the cause took five (5) days. There were over seventy (70) potential witnesses. The witnesses included experts in the field of psychiatry and psychology because there was an insanity defense asserted. As shown by the affidavits Petitioner Schommer expended in excess of one hundred fifty (150) hours on the matter, Petitioner Lobozzo expended in excess of ninety (90) hours on the matter. It is to be remembered that Petitioners herein were appointed after there

- 14 -

had been hearings on the indigent defendant's competency to stand trial and after some discovery had already been taken. Based upon a fifty (50) hour work week, it would have taken a single attorney representing the indigent defendant approximately five (5) weeks of time and labor to work on this case to the exclusion of all others.

Judge Bentley found the fees requested to be so reasonable that he took judicial notice and though Petitioners had a witness ready, willing and able to testify as to the reasonableness of the fee, the Judge at Page 12 of his transcript at said motion hearing stated, "I'll take notice of the fact that I think everybody knows that the work done on a capital case <u>in one such</u> as this is on the marketplace worth far more than \$3,500.00."

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