IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 68,335

NICHOLAS G. SCHOMMER and JAMES V. LOBOZZO, JR.,

 Magnetic i en tis int · · ala. Sector State APR St.

Citier Dogs

Clerk, S

Petitioners,

vs.

THE HONORABLE E. RANDOLPH BENTLEY, CIRCUIT JUDGE, IN AND FOR THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA AND BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF HIGHLANDS COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

R. P. DUNTY, JR., COUNTY ATTORNEY and BERT J. HARRIS, III of DUNTY AND HARRIS, ATTORNEYS FOR HIGHLANDS COUNTY AND E. RANDOLPH BENTLEY, CIRCUIT JUDGE Post Office Box 548 212 Interlake Boulevard Lake Placid, Florida 33852 (813)465-2811

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

3

2

4

ARGUMENT ON THE ISSUES

- I. WHERE A COURT ISSUES ONE ORDER UNDER SECTION 925.036, FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), WHICH AUTHORIZES MULTIPLE ATTORNEYS TO REPRESENT ONE DEFENDANT ON A SINGLE CHARGE, MAY EACH ATTORNEY BE AWARDED THE MAXIMUM COMPENSATION UNDER SECTION 925.036? 5
- II. WHETHER SECTION 925.036, FLORIDA STATUTES IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE BECAUSE IT INTERFERES WITH THE INHERENT AUTHORITY OF THE COURT TO ENTER SUCH ORDERS WHICH ARE NECESSARY TO CARRY OUT ITS CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY? 7
- III. IF SECTION 925.036 IS CONSTITUTIONAL, MAY THE STATUTE BE HELD UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCE; OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, DOES A TRIAL COURT HAVE THE INHERENT AUTHORITY TO AWARD A GREATER FEE FOR TRIAL AND APPEAL THAN THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM IN AN EXTRAORDINARY CASE?
- IV. IF THE TRIAL COURT DOES HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO AWARD A GREATER FEE THAN THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM IN EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES, SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT HAVE AWARDED THE REQUESTED AMOUNT IN THIS CASE? 15

CONCLUSION

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES

- <u>GIDEON v. WAINWRIGHT</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963) 7
- MARTIN COUNTY v. MAKEMSON, 464 So.2d 1281 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), cert. pending
- METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY v. BRIDGES, 402 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1981) 4,7,9,12,13
- OKEECHOBEE COUNTY v. JENNINGS, 473 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)
- SCHOMMER v. BENTLEY, So.2d , (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), Case No. 85-1289, Opinion filed February 7, 1986
- STATE v. GABLES-BY-THE-SEA, INC., 374 So.2d 582 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979)
- BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, COLLIER COUNTY v. HAYES, et al, 460 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) 5,6
- MARION COUNTY v. DEBOISBLANC, 410 So.2d 951 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), petition for review denied, 419 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 1982)
- BLAIR v. STATE, 406 So.2d 1103,1108 (Fla. 1981) 7,9

D.B., 385 So.2d 83 (Fla. 1980) 13

STATUTES

Section 925.036, Florida Statutes (1983)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Appellees, E. Randolph Bentley, Circuit Judge (Judge Bentley) and the Board of County Commissioners of Highlands County, Florida (Highlands County) accept the Statement of the Case and Facts posited by the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers in its Amicus Brief.

While not contesting the facts, the Appellees would emphasize one point, to wit: Judge Bentley appointed only Schommer to represent the Defendant. Schommer was authorized to utilize other members of his firm. At the hearing on attorney fees Judge Bentley reiterated his intention by stating that his authorization to allow Schommer to utilize additional attorneys in his firm ". . . was just intended to authorize someone else to appear in Court." Judge Bentley also stated that his order was not intended to be determinitive of the issue (T-8).

Opposing counsel has accurately represented the foregoing facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellees, the BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF HIGHLANDS COUNTY, FLORIDA (HIGHLANDS COUNTY) and the HONORABLE E. RANDOLPH BENTLEY, CIRCUIT JUDGE (JUDGE BENTLEY), respectfully urge this Honorable Court to find Section 925.036 Florida Statutes (1983), hereinafter referred to as Section 925.036, constitutional. This court has previously visited the very similar issue in <u>Metropolitan Dade County v.</u> Bridges, 402 So.2d 411 (1981).

There have been no substantial changes in law which would require this court to recede from or clarify <u>Bridges</u>. Furthermore, there is no specific constitutional provision violated by the effect of Section 925.036.

In the absence of Section 925.036 there would be no authority at all to compensate attorneys representing indigent defendants, as long as there has been no violation of the indigent accused's right to counsel. The judicially legislated replacement for Section 925.036 awarding a reasonable fee, or excess fee for exceptional circumstances, constitute an enormous invasion of public treasuries at a time when the public is strictly scrutinizing court awarded attorney's fees. Section 925.036 does not need fixing. It should again be held constitutional.

Þ

I. WHERE A COURT ISSUES ONE ORDER UNDER SECTION 925.036, FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), WHICH AUTHORIZES MULTIPLE ATTORNEYS TO REPRESENT ONE DEFENDANT ON A SINGLE CHARGE, MAY EACH ATTORNEY BE AWARDED THE MAXIMUM COMPENSATION UNDER SECTION 925.036?

The Appellees, Highlands County and Judge Bentley, would encourage this Court to reframe the first certified question. As drafted the first certified question presumes that two attorneys can be appointed and compensated for representing one defendant on one charge. That presumed issue is one of the primary two questions in this Appeal.

Furthermore, the facts of this case do not fit the first certified question. Judge Bentley explained in his ruling that his Order authorizing additional counsel was not intended to be dispositive of this issue, but ". . . was intended to authorize someone else to appear in Court." (T-8). Therefore, this Court does not have before it an initial order authorizing two separate attorneys to be compensated for their representation under one initial order.

Respectfully, the certified question should be the one asked by the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Board of County Commissioners of</u> <u>Collier County vs. Hayes</u>, 460 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984), to wit:

CAN EACH OF MULTIPLE ATTORNEYS APPOINTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 925.036 TO REPRESENT A DEFENDANT ON A SINGLE CHARGE BE AWARDED THE MAXIMUM COMPENSATION PROVIDED IN SECTION 925.036 FOR THAT CHARGE?

The Second District Court of Appeal answered its foregoing certified question in the negative. Its opinion set out considerable rationale supporting the Court's decision. The opinion weighs carefully the statute's instruction, the legislative policies, and the realm within which

the legislature and Courts should operate on this subject. Appellees could not improve the rationale presented in the opinion and will simply refer this Court thereto.

Appellees would submit one additional argument which the Second District did not address in <u>Collier County</u>, to wit: If the Appellants prevail, where will the compensation stop? This and other similar cases seem to involve two attorneys seeking compensation of their services.

However, Section 925.036 is construed to allow two attorneys to receive the maximum compensation for representing one defendant upon one charge, then would not the Court be required to allow three, four, or more attorneys the same compensation? This interpretation of the statute would absolutely viciate the historic interpretation of Section 925.036. If such expanded compensation was the intention of the legislature, then there would be no reason to have a cap.

For example, successive attorneys could provide counsel until each reached the maximum fee, and then seek replacement on the ground of financial ruination, time constraint, or other argument which would find a sympathetic judicial ear. This concept does not seem terribly far fetched in light of the dictum in so may cases of this type where the courts practically take judicial notice that the lawyers defending indigents are being compensated for a mere fraction of their time. Upon the law and logic expressed by the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Collier County</u>, and the foregoing reasons, Appellees urge this Court to answer the first certified question in the negative. Section 925.036 does not allow for the compensation of multiple attorneys representing one defendant on one charge.

II. WHETHER SECTION 925.036, FLORIDA STATUTES IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE BECAUSE IT INTERFERES WITH THE INHERENT AUTHORITY OF THE COURT TO ENTER SUCH ORDERS WHICH ARE NECESSARY TO CARRY OUT ITS CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY?

This Court's initial inquiry in the second certified question should be to locate the specific constitutional provision violated by Section 925.036.

Appellants' rely upon the Sixth Amendment right to counsel explained in <u>Gideon v. Wainright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963) (see Appellants' introduction to argument on page one). However, there is no allegation or evidence in the record before this Court that the defendant did not receive effective assistance of counsel.

This Court therefore is asked to find Section 925.036 unconstitutional on its face, even though its application has not denied the defendant his right to the effectiveness of assistance to counsel.

Second, this Court has recently ruled upon this very question in <u>Bridges</u>, supra, and touched again thereon in <u>Blair v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 1103, 1108 (Fla. 1981). This Court has not been shown any change in law or fact which would require it to revisit Bridges, supra.

In fact, reasoning of this Court in <u>Bridges</u>, supra, raises an interesting point. This Court observed that there is a common law duty upon the bar to represent an indigent party when directed to do so by the Court - without right to compensation from the government or any other source. <u>Bridges</u>, supra, at page 414, in the interest of <u>D. B.</u>, 385 So.2nd 83 (Fla. 1980).

Should Section 925.036 fall and there is no allegation, evidence, and finding that Defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was deprived,

what then is the authority for recovery of attorney fees for said defendant's appointed counsel?

My Brother Schommer would scream violation of the right to counsel. However, there has been no such violation in this case before absent 925.036 he would not be paid at all.

Using the circumstances of this very case it is very difficult to see how Section 925.036 could be held unconstitutional on its face.

Simply stated, where the defendant has been adequately represented, as in this case, Section 925.036 cannot be held unconstitutional but nor can a greater fee be awarded.

III-A. IF SECTION 925.036 IS CONSTITUTIONAL, MAY THE STATUTE BE HELD UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES.

The third certified question combines two issues. They will be addressed separately as questions III-A. and III-B.

Certified question III-A asks whether Section 925.036 may be held unconstitutional as applied to exceptional circumstances. However, two practical barriers prohibit an affirmative answer to this question in this case.

In truth and fact, that there was insufficient proof before the court to justify a finding that section 925.036 caused a denial of effective representation of counsel (T-10).

First, to be held unconstitutional as applied in this case, the appellants must show that the defendant was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel. The record contains no allegation, fact or finding that the defendant's right to counsel was denied. The absence of this key element prohibits finding that Section 925.036 is unconstitutional as applied in this cause, Blair, supra, and Bridges, supra.

Speaking for the majority in <u>Bridges</u>, supra, Justice Alderman explained that the record must contain proof that Section 925.036 hinged upon indigent defendant's right to counsel. <u>Bridges</u>, supra, at page 414.. This court's detailed analysis of this question in <u>Bridges</u>, supra, as well as its rather summary conclusion upon the same issue in <u>Blair</u>, supra, shows that this issue has been thoroughly reviewed by this court. Nothing has changed since this court's visitation of this issue in <u>Bridges</u>, supra and Blair, supra. The second reason that this cause will not support a finding that Section 925.036 is unconstitutional as applied to exceptional circumstances is that this cause contains no exceptional circumstances. While a five-day murder trial is unquestionably complex and exceptional in its own right, it does not appear exceptional when compared to other murder trials. Furthermore, the record contains no serious contention or proof that trial of the defendant really contained exceptional circumstances for a murder trial. Appellant submits that this Honorable Court is in the best position of all to determine whether the cause at bar contained exceptional circumstances as this court reviews such a large number of these cases on direct appeal.

Finally, some might argue that it is unfair for the criminal defense portion of the bar to alone suffer the cost of defending indigents. They correctly point out that other members of the bar do not ordinarily contribute their talent in these cases.

However, we would hope that members of the criminal bar would similarly admit that the non-criminal defense portion of the bar contributes time and talents to the indigent in the civil forum.

Next, consider the result of finding Section 925.036 unconstitutional, and for the sake of arguement, assume that it is replaced with some authority to award a "reasonable fee" to attorneys representing indigents. In this day the attorney, like other professionals, would be required to pursue every possible avenue for the defense of the accused. Although this is an academically pleasing concept, it would result in an indigent being afforded an even greater defense at public expense than the average citizen. Most citizens paying their own way must ultimately make a decision that certain defense is not economically worthwhile. Such a decision would not, and could not be reached, by counsel for the indigent defendant.

In summary, this cause will simply not support a ruling that Section 925.036 is unconstitutional as applied because it does not contain the required proofs and findings that defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel or that cause involved exceptional circumstances. III-B. OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, DOES A TRIAL COURT HAVE THE INHERENT AUTHORITY TO AWARD A GREATER FEE FOR TRIAL AND APPEAL THAN THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM IN AN EXTRAORDINARY CASE?

As stated above, the record before this court in this cause does not contain sufficient pleading, evidence, or findings to support a claim to fees in excess of the statutory maximum based upon the extraordinary circumstances concept. However, other academic reasons should lead this court to rule that a trial court does not have the discretion to exceed the statutory maximum in an extraordinary case.

First, the Court's attention is again directed to its holdings in <u>Bridges</u>, supra. Then this court applied several basic rules of statutory construction to its test of the constitutionality of Section 925.036. They bear repeating:

- 1. The judiciary was not allowed to amend Section 925.036 by adding a higher fee in cases containing exceptional circumstances. Bridges, supra, at page 413.
- 2. "The legislative enactment is presumed valid and will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute conflicts with some designated provision of the Constitution." <u>Bridges</u>, supra at page 413.
- 3. "Whenever reasonably possible and consistent with the protection of constitutional rights, courts will construe statutes in such a manner as to avoid conflict with the constitution." Bridges, supra, at page 414.
- 4. "... the Court, in construing a statute may not invade the province of the legislature and add words which change the plain meaning of the statute." Bridges, supra at page 414.

These principles were the cornerstones used by this court to hold Section 925.036 constitutional and to prevent "stacking" in <u>Bridges</u>, supra. However, these same constitutional concepts would apply to this court's analysis of the issue sub judice.

In the analysis, this court should ask the question: What specific constitutional provision has been so violated as to permit a court to amend a duly enacted law? An examination of the Constitution, <u>Bridges</u>, supra, and the record in this case, reveal none.

This court pointed out in <u>Bridges</u>, supra that there exists no common law right to recover attorney fees, and that common law included a professional obligation for a lawyer to accept an assignment to represent an indigent without compensation when so ordered by the court. <u>Bridges</u>, supra at page 414, and In RE THE interest of <u>D.B.</u>, 385 So.2d 83 (Fla. 1980).

Absent a statutory or common law right to recover attorney fees for the representation of an indigent defendant, there is no authority to supercede a mandatory fee cap posited by Section 925.036, or award any fee at all.

In summary, there appears no authority to allow the judiciary to amend Section 925.036 to allow trial courts to award greater fees than those set out by the legislature. IV. IF THE TRIAL COURT DOES HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO AWARD A GREATER FEE THAN THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM IN EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES, SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT HAVE AWARDED THE REQUESTED AMOUNT IN THIS CASE?

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